IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PAUL G. EVERETT,			
Appellant,			
v.		CASE NO.	SC03-73
STATE OF FLORIDA,			
Appellee.	,		
	/		

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE **FOURTEENTH** JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR **BAY** COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DAVID A. DAVIS
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0271543
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
SUITE 401
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(850) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT **

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the defendant in the trial court and will be referred to herein as either "defendant," "appellant," or by his proper name. References to the record shall be by the volume number in Roman numerals, followed by the appropriate page number, both in parentheses.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An Indictment filed in the Circuit Court for Bay County on January 28, 2002, charged the Appellant, Paul Everett, with one count of first-degree murder, burglary of a dwelling with a battery, and sexual battery involving serious physical force (1 R 5). He pled not guilty to those offenses, and the State later filed a notice that it intended to seek the death penalty if he was convicted of the murder (1 R 17, 19). Everett subsequently filed motions to suppress evidence taken from him and also statements he made to the police (1 R 31, 33). The trial court, after hearing evidence and arguments, denied those requests (1 R 46-50). The defendant also filed penalty phase motions dealing with the wording of the instructions that repeatedly told the jury that their verdict was only advisory and gave an inadequate definition of the heinous, atrocious, or cruel aggravator (1 R 52, 109). Everett also challenged the constitutionality of Florida's death penalty scheme based on Ring v. Arizona, 122 S. Ct. 2428 (2002). The Court denied those motions (8 R 335-36).

Everett proceeded to trial before Judge Donald Sirmons, and the jury, after it had heard the evidence, argument, and relevant law, found him guilty as charged on all counts (1 R 113). After further evidence, argument, and legal instruction, the jury also unanimously recommended the court sentence him to death (1 R 131).

The court followed that recommendation. In aggravation it found:

- (1) Everett was under sentence of imprisonment at the time of the murder.
- (2) He committed it during the course of a sexual battery or burglary.
- (3) It was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel.

(1 R 154-55) In mitigation, it found:

- (1) That at the time of the murder Everett was under the influence of an extreme mental or emotional disturbance.
- (2) He had no significant criminal history.
- (3) He used drugs immediately before the murder.
- (4) The defendant was remorseful.
- (5) He conducted himself well while awaiting trial.
- (6) He confessed to the murder.

The court weighed the aggravating factors against the mitigation, and it found the former tilted the scales in favor of death. Accordingly, the court sentenced Everett to death (1 R 165). It also sentenced him to serve two consecutive life sentences for the burglary and sexual battery convictions (1 R 165).

This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Paul Everett lived in Alabama, but during the week of November 2, 2001 he had come to Panama City Beach, Florida. (1 SR 2). He stayed at a motel on the beach, played video games at one of the arcades, and used drugs (7 R 153, 165). About dusk on the evening of November 2, he took some LSD, "started tripping," and went looking for money (7 R 153). Shortly, he walked into the house of Kelli Bailey, saw her purse, and began rummaging through it, eventually finding about \$70 (7 R 153-55). Bailey came into the living room and immediately started running toward Everett. The defendant, when questioned later, remembered only bits and snatches of what happened because of the acid (7 R 155). He did recall that they got into a fight with him hitting her at least two times, she started bleeding, and he had sexual intercourse with her (7 R 155-56). He was "pretty sure" he never kicked her, and was unsure of what happened other than hitting her with his fists a couple of times and grabbing her by her hair as she ran into her bedroom (7 R 158, 160). When he fled he thought she was still alive (7 R 159). Actually, he probably twisted her neck, because the medical examiner would testify she died of a broken neck (8 R 218).

When he left, Everett took a sweater belonging to Bailey. He tried to put it on, but apparently could not, and he threw it away along with a credit card of hers

that was in a pocket in the sweater several hundred feet from her house (7 R 161, 167).

Everett was on bond pending the resolution of an appeal he had filed with an appellate court in Alabama. By coming to Florida, he had violated the conditions of the bond, and within hours of the homicide, he was seized and placed in the Baldwin County, Alabama jail. After some police investigation, they focused on the defendant as their main suspect. About a month after the murder, they arrested him, and he eventually confessed to breaking into Bailey's house, getting into a fight with her, and having sexual intercourse with her.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENTS

ISSUE I. The police questioned Everett three times after being placed in custodial confinement. The read him his Miranda rights each time, and he cut short the first two interrogations by clearly invoking his right to counsel. Despite the unambiguous invocation of his Fifth Amendment rights the police reproached him two times, once to ask for his consent to give blood, and the second to serve him with an arrest warrant. Such dealings with the defendant violated his Fifth Amendment right to counsel. Once the defendant has invoked that right, the police must insure he had access to a lawyer, and before they approach the accused they must be certain counsel is present. In this case, they did neither, and that was particularly egregious here because Everett twice asked for a lawyer, and no law enforcement official ever made any evident effort to get him the attorney he requested, and which they said they would provide.

ISSUE II. As a result of one of the uncounseled meetings with Everett, the police took blood samples from him and sent them to a laboratory for DNA testing. DNA testing is a two step process: First there is the blood analysis that creates a DNA profile. Second, that profile acquires meaning when a statistical analysis is made to estimate its frequency in the population. At trial, the State presented Jacqueline Benefield as a DNA expert. The defendant accepted her as one in DNA

analysis, but objected to her being able to also testify about the population profile, or likelihood that someone with Everett's DNA matched the DNA found on evidence taken from the crime scene. The court overruled that objection, but it was error. Ms. Benefield, as she admitted, was primarily an analytical chemist. She had no demonstrated expertise in interpreting her test results, and the prosecution never established she had sufficient knowledge of the database grounded in the study of authoritative sources. Here, her sparse testimony reveals only that she knew how to detect the DNA markers from the various pieces of evidence given to her. She had only a pedestrian knowledge of how to use that knowledge to determine how rare or frequent it would likely show up in some population.

ISSUE III. This Court wrongly avoided the issues presented by Ring v.

Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002), in Bottoson v. Moore, 833 So. 2d 693 (Fla. 2002), cert. denied, 123 S. Ct. 662 (2002), and King v. Moore, 831 So. 2d 143 (Fla. 2002), cert denied, 123 S. Ct. 657 (2002). Because Ring was an "intervening development of the law" this Court could determine its affects on Florida's death penalty scheme without incurring the wrath of the United States Supreme Court, as this Court was leery of doing in those two state cases. When it conducts that examination, this Court should conclude that Ring requires at least unanimous jury recommendations of death. This Court should also find that even though the

defendant may have a single valid aggravator, Ring still has relevance to the constitutionality of his death sentence.

ISSUE IV. Within the space of four pages of the court's penalty phase instructions, the trial judge told the jury eleven times that its recommendation was just that, a recommendation. Doing so diminished the role of the jury in sentencing the defendant to death, and that was error.

ISSUE V. At the time of the murder, Everett was under a sentence of imprisonment in Alabama for committing some forgeries and passing bad checks. The court found that as an aggravating factor, as Section 921.141(5) Florida Statutes (2000), permits. That was error because there was no nexus or causal link between the murder and the defendant's status of being under some sentence of imprisonment.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE COURT ERRED IN DENYING EVERETT'S MOTIONS TO SUPPRESS BLOOD, HAIR, AND OTHER BODY SAMPLES TAKEN FROM HIM AS WELL AS A CONFESSION HE GAVE TO POLICE OFFICERS, IN VIOLATION OF HIS FOURTH, FIFTH, SIXTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS.

This case presents an unusual issue for this Court to resolve. After he was in jail, Everett was questioned by the police three times. He stopped the questioning after the first two times by invoking his Fifth Amendment right to have a lawyer present before the police interrogated him further. The third time he confessed to the murder of Kelli Bailey. Before trial, he challenged the admissibility of that statement as well as the blood and other samples taken from him at the second interrogation. The court rejected both motions saying that, even though he had invoked his constitutional right to have counsel present, he had waived that right because he had initiated the last two interrogations. The correctness of that ruling presents a mixed question of law and fact, and while this Court gives the trial court discretion as to resolving the conflicts in the evidence, it reviews, de novo, the application of the law to those facts. Loredo v. State, 836 So. 2d 1103 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2003).

On November 2, 2001, Everett was captured by an Alabama bail bondsman because he had absconded from Alabama. He had appealed a sentence for some crimes he had committed there, and pending the Alabama appellate court's resolution of the matter, he remained free on bond. His bondsman took him into custody, however, and had him jailed at the Baldwin County, Alabama jail on November 2, 2001 (1 R 154).

Twelve days later Lieutenant Chad Lindsey and Sergeant Rodney Tilley of the Panama City Police Department questioned Everett about Kelli Bailey's murder. Before doing so, they read him his Miranda rights, and he agreed to talk with them (1 SR 1). They interrogated him for a while, but he stopped their questioning when he clearly asked for a lawyer.

- Q. It don't jive Paul, getting rid of the only pair of shoes that you have because it's got some blood on it.
- A. I wish to have a lawyer present. I can tell you, I can see where this is going. I mean I want a lawyer.
- Q. Okay. You've requested a lawyer. The time is 4:35 p.m. hours.

(1 R 8)

By this time the police believed that Everett was "their man." (2 SR 66)

They wanted to talk with him again, and they decided to do so by asking him for consent to get blood and other body samples (2 SR 67). If he persisted in refusing

to talk with them they believed they could get a warrant to get them (2 SR 69). They decided to ask Investigator John Murphy of the Baldwin County Sheriff's Office to talk with the defendant about consenting to "give DNA" because he had talked with him before, apparently on some unrelated charges, and intended to speak with him again (2 SR 67). Significantly, the Panama City Beach police told them about their interview with Everett and his invoking his Fifth Amendment rights (2 SR 67-68)

- A. Did you tell Murphy about the interview that you and Lindsey had had where you were talking to him and then Everett indicated he didn't want to talk to you anymore?
 - Q. I'm sure we discussed all that . . .

(2 SR 67-68) Murphy nevertheless approached Everett, and got his consent to give blood.

So, on November 19, 2001, five days later, after the police had gotten the defendant's consent, the Panama City Police, along with the Alabama investigator, talked with the defendant again. But, as with the first interrogation, he again reasserted his Fifth Amendment right to have a lawyer present.

- A. Had I know, you know, as soon as she jumped up I knew something was wrong (inaudible), she jumped (inaudible). (Inaudible) want to say this, but (inaudible) but (inaudible) I do want to talk to a lawyer, but I did want to let you know to get you in the right direction to where. . .
 - Q. So you are asking for a lawyer at this point?

A. Yes sir (inaudible) right direction (inaudible)

(1 SR 21)

Eight days later and armed with a warrant for the defendant's arrest, Sergeant Tilley returned to Baldwin County jail and served it on the defendant. He claimed Everett said he wanted to talk with him, and waiving his right to have counsel present, he then confessed to killing Kelli Bailey (1 SR 23, et. seq, 78.).

Under the unique facts presented by this case, the trial court erred in denying Everett's motions to exclude the evidence of his DNA and his confession.

A. The Fifth Amendment right to counsel.

Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966), giving meaning to the Fifth Amendment's protection against compelled self-incrimination, provides three guarantees to defendants facing custodial interrogation: (1) They do not have to talk to the police unless they want to. (2) They have the right to consult with an attorney before the police question them. (3) If they want the advice of counsel, the police must provide them with a lawyer. In Edwards v. Arizona, 451U.S. 477 (1981), the United States Supreme Court expanded on the last two guarantees. When an accused person has "expressed his desire to deal with the police only through counsel, [he] is not subject to further interrogation by the authorities until counsel has been made available to him, unless the accused himself initiates further

communication, exchanges, or conversations with the police." Id. at 484-85.¹ Said another way, when a defendant indicates he wants legal advice before talking with the police he is saying "The authorities may communicate with him through an attorney." Michigan v. Mosely, 423 U.S. 96, 110 n. 2 (1975)(White, concurring). A defendant who has invoked his right to counsel "raises the presumption that he is unable to proceed without a lawyer's advice." Arizona v. Roberson, 486 U.S. 675, 683 (1988). The police can deal with him only through counsel, and they can have no contact with him unless his lawyer is present. If they do, any resulting confession or statement "may properly be viewed with skepticism." Arizona v. Roberson, 486 U.S. 675, 681 (1988).² In short, dealing with the defendant involves

¹ The Court created a "bright-line rule" to provide "clear and unequivocal" guidance for law enforcement officers by holding that once a person in custody has expressed his desire to deal with the police only through counsel, they cannot question or "deal" with him until counsel has been made available to him. *Arizona v. Roberson*, 486 U.S. 675, 682, 108 S. Ct. 2093, 2098, 100 L.Ed.2d 704 (1988) (quoting *Edwards*, 451 U.S. at 484-85, 101 S. Ct. at 1884-85)

² Obviously, they can talk with him on purely administrative matters such as are necessary when booking him into jail, which may require him to give his name, address, birth date, and other such biographical information. <u>United States v. Hinckley</u>, 672 F. 2d 115 (D.C. Cir 1982).

more than interrogation and properly encompasses any communication with the defendant.³

B. What can the police do once a defendant invokes his right to counsel?

Unlike the companion Fifth Amendment right to remain silent, the Fifth Amendment right to counsel means that the police cannot approach the defendant, on their own initiative at all. Miranda, cited above at p. 474; See, Michigan v. Mosely, 423 U.S. 96 (1975)(providing test to determine if the police had violated a defendant's Fifth Amendment right to remain silent when, subsequent to his invoking it, they reproached him or her). The "bright line rule" is that they can do nothing.

Now does asking a defendant if he or she will consent to the police drawing blood or other bodily samples violate the <u>Edwards</u> bright line rule? Some courts have said no, arguing that seeking a defendant's permission to invade his body,

³ The Fifth Amendment right to counsel is broader than the Sixth Amendment right to counsel. McNeil v. Wisconsin, 501 U.S. 171 (1991). That right is "offense specific," and that means a defendant cannot assert that right to apply to uncharged crimes. The Fifth Amendment right, on the other hand, applies to all offenses a defendant might face. Arizona v. Roberson, 486 U.S. 675 (1988). Thus, in this case, once Everett asserted his right to have counsel present, not only could the Panama City Beach police not talk to him, investigator Murphy, the Alabama law enforcement officer, could not question him about any Alabama crimes he thought the defendant may have committed.

which clearly invoked Fourth Amendment interests, <u>Schmerber v. California</u>, 384 US. 757, 767-70 (1966), nevertheless was not interrogation, and that taking a person's blood was not testimonial in nature. <u>State v. Crannel</u>, 750 A. 2d 1002, 1008-1009 (Vt. 2000).

Others, however, have found that asking a defendant for his consent to take blood or consent to some other Fourth Amendment intrusion, was an interrogation covered by Edwards.

I suppress this evidence on Fifth Amendment grounds. The holding in Edwards v. Arizona, supra, is "that an accused, such as Edwards, having expressed his desire to deal with the police only through counsel, is not subject to further interrogation by the authorities until counsel has been made available to him, unless the accused himself initiates further communication, exchanges, or conversations with the police." 451 U.S. at 484-85, 101 S. Ct. at 1884-85. I consider the rationale of *Edwards* to be broad enough to include "interrogation" about whether the accused will consent to a warrantless search. Surely that is an area where an accused would be well advised "to deal with the police only through counsel." . . . Once a suspect expresses a desire for counsel, explicit or equivocal, all questioning should cease, including questions about a consent search. To hold otherwise would require courts to separate the wheat of Fourth Amendment voluntary consent from the chaff of illicit Fifth Amendment interrogation. Such a rule has obvious practical difficulties; and the broader Fifth Amendment analysis adopted here seems to me more in keeping with recent authority.

<u>U.S. v. Yan</u>, 704 F. Supp. 1207, 1211 -1212 (S.D. N.Y.,1989)

The court in <u>Yan</u> has it correct. It is the exploitation of the Fifth Amendment

violation, and not the fruits of that illegal questioning that is critical. Indeed, Miranda itself identified several police techniques that were not strictly speaking interrogation but amounted to as such. "It is clear that these techniques of persuasion, no less than express questioning, were thought, in a custodial setting, to amount to interrogation." Rhode Island v. Innis, 446 U.S. 291, 299 (1980). See also United States v. Rojas, 655 F. Supp. 1156, 1168 (E.D.N.Y.1987) (evidence found as a result of oral consent to search suppressed because consent was product of questioning in violation of defendant's exercising his rights under Miranda to remain silent); <u>United States v. D'Antoni</u>, 856 F.2d 975 (7th Cir.1988) (obtaining defendant's consent to search after he invoked right to counsel arguably violated Edwards bright-line rule); People v. Johnson, 48 N.Y.2d 565, 423 N.Y.S.2d 905, 399 N.E.2d 936 (1979) (consent to search held legally ineffective, even though found to be voluntarily given, because it was unconstitutionally obtained after request for attorney was not granted).

Moreover, as suggested above, a close reading of <u>Edwards</u> and other cases from the United States Supreme Court reveals that the Fifth Amendment's right to counsel has a broader focus than police interrogations. When a defendant has invoked his Fifth Amendment right to counsel, he is telling the authorities he wants no <u>dealings</u> with them unless his lawyer is present, or he has had the opportunity to

Mosely, cited above at p. 110 n. 2 (White, concurring. Invoking his right to counsel means a defendant has expressed his view "that he is not competent to deal with authorities without legal advice.") Whether the evidence the police seek from the defendant is testimonial or not is irrelevant. It is their uninvited and counselless contact with the accused that is illegal.

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