IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

PAUL G. EVERETT,	
Appellant,	
vs.	Case No. SC 03-73
STATE OF FLORIDA,	
Appellee.	

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

CASSANDRA K. DOLGIN

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0644390

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 Ext 4583 FAX (850) 487-0997

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Roberson, 486 U.S. at 686 n.6.

Based upon the foregoing, the real issue that Everett raises is whether his consent to search was voluntary (a Fourth Amendment issue), Ohio v. Robinette, 519 U.S. 33, 39-40 (1996), rather than one of self-incrimination (a Fifth Amendment issue). Appellant has never suggested that his consent to giving a blood sample and other physical evidence was involuntary under the Fourth Amendment (compare R. I:31-32), and the issue is not raised on appeal. ¹¹

¹¹Nor does the record support any such conclusion. That is, while Everett was in custody, he was neither coerced nor compelled in any way to give consent, and did not do so in submission to a claim of lawful authority. Schneckloth, 412 U.S. at 233-234. An individual lawfully in custody may validly consent to a search. Compare Florida v. Royer, 460 U.S. 491, 507 (1983) (because there did not exist probable cause to arrest, the subject was illegally detained, thereby rendering his consent to search involuntary); but see State v. McClamrock, 295 So. 2d 715, 718 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1974) (holding that upon invocation of right to counsel, defendant cannot voluntarily

Appellant's invocation of his right to counsel did not prohibit the police from seeking his consent to obtain physical evidence from his person. To uphold Everett's position that "[i]t does not matter why [law enforcement] wanted to talk with the defendant," I.B. at 19, and that the police could not, following an invocation of the right to counsel, "talk with him on purely administrative matters such as are necessary when booking him into jail, which may require him to give his name, address, birth date, and other such biographical information," is contrary to a proposition that Appellant himself rejects. I.B. at 13 n.2. Thus Appellant's position is internally inconsistent and does not withstand scrutiny. Applying the proper analysis, Everett's consent was voluntary under the totality of the circumstances. The trial court did not error in denying the motion to suppress.

C. Admissibility of the November 27, 2001 Statement

In seeking to suppress each of Everett's statements made to law enforcement, the defense filed a "Motion To Suppress Admissions Illegally Obtained." (R. I-33-37). Relying upon Edwards, Everett had argued that

-

consent to a search); <u>Smith v. State</u>, 344 So. 2d 867, 868 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977) (Anstead, J., dissenting) (same, <u>citing McClamrock</u>). Because <u>McClamrock</u> was decided prior to the Supreme Court's decision in <u>Innis</u> specifically defining "interrogation," <u>McClamrock</u> is not persuasive.

the Panama City Beach investigators subverted the Defendant's request for counsel by requesting Investigator Murphy, who had a 'rapport' with the Defendant, to approach him with a request for biological samples. By doing so, the investigators purposely reinitiated contact with the Defendant with the expectation that they would obtain incriminating evidence against him.

(R. I-36). At trial, only Appellant's statement given on November 27, 2001 was admitted into evidence, as State's Exhibit 18 (R. VII-151).

Contrary to Appellant's belief, <u>Edwards</u> does not preclude all contact with an accused that has invoked his right to counsel. Rather, <u>Edwards</u> prohibits police-initiated interrogation following an unequivocal invocation of the right to counsel. <u>Id.</u>, 451 U.S. at 485-486; <u>Davis</u>, 512 U.S. at 462. Here, as found by the trial court and well-supported in the record, Everett requested further communications with law enforcement regarding the Panama City Beach case.

First, the admissibility of the November 19, 2001 statement is not at issue, as the statement was not offered and admitted into evidence (Compare R.VII-3 and R. I-Index, at 10). In any event, the trial court properly denied the suppression motion in relation thereto. On November 19, after being asked to consent to providing blood and saliva samples -- which was not testimonial, did not seek an incriminating response requiring the presence of counsel as a matter of law, supra, at 28-35, and for which Everett made no showing that the request for consent was in fact designed to obtain

an incriminating response -- Appellant asked Deputy Murphy if he would deliver a piece of paper with a name written on it to Sgt. Tilley of the PCBPD (S.R. I-22). At that time Deputy Murphy told Appellant he would do so but that "he would first read Everett his Miranda Rights." (S.R. I-22). After Deputy Murphy responded to Everett's request to make a statement off the record by advising him "that any information he gave would be on the record and recorded," Appellant said he would make a statement to Deputy Murphy or to Sgt. Tilley (S.R. I-22). Similarly, on November 27, 2001, Sgt. Tilley contacted Deputy Murphy to let him know he had a warrant to present to Appellant and asked if he could use the interview room. When Deputy Murphy told Appellant that Sgt. Tilley was coming to Baldwin County, Everett asked to speak with Sgt. Tilley (S.R. I-23; S.R. II-77-78). Deputy Murphy advised Sgt. Tilley of Appellant's desire to talk to him, which Sgt. Tilley asked Everett about (S.R. I-23; S.R. II-77-78). After answering affirmatively, Sgt. Tilley reminded him of his Miranda rights (S.R. I-23).

Because Everett initiated the interrogations, the proper inquiry is whether he was advised of and validly waived his Miranda rights and voluntarily made the statements to law enforcement. Appellant, however, does not challenge the voluntariness of his

¹²Even if the Court were to consider the issues of the voluntariness of the Everett's November 27, 2001 confession and whether he knowingly and intelligently waived his <u>Miranda</u> rights, Appellant is not entitled to relief. In considering these issues, the Court looks at the totality of the circumstances. <u>Lukehart v. State</u>, 776 So. 2d 906, 917 (Fla. 2000), <u>cert. denied</u>, 533 U.S. 934 (2001) (<u>citing Jennings v. State</u>, 718 So. 2d 144, 150 (Fla. 1998), <u>cert. denied</u>, 527 U.S. 1042 (1999)).

Whether the rights were validly waived must be ascertained from two separate inquiries:

First, the relinquishment of the right must have been voluntary in the sense that it was the product of free and deliberate choice rather than intimidation, coercion, or deception. Second, the waiver must have been made with a full awareness of both the nature of the right being abandoned and the consequences of the decision to abandon it. Only if the "totality of the circumstances surrounding the interrogation" reveal both an uncoerced choice and the requisite level of comprehension may a court properly conclude that the *Miranda* rights have been waived.

<u>Id</u>.

Here, Everett had been advised fully of his <u>Miranda</u> rights on November 14, 2001 and waived same (State's Exhibit 22), made a statement that made no mention of the murder and then invoked his right to counsel when confronted by police with the improbability of his statement (S.R. I-1-8), was again fully advised of his <u>Miranda</u> rights on November 19, 2001 after he requested to speak with either Deputy Murphy or Sgt. Tilley (S.R. II-9), but then invoked his right to counsel after giving a statement that he had consensual sex with the victim and that a guy named Bubba came in the house and beat the victim (S.R. II-14-21).

Accordingly, the record reflects that Appellant's decision to speak to Sgt. Tilley on November 27, 2001 was a deliberate, voluntary choice with knowledge of the rights

C. Harmless Error

Lastly, even if the Court were to determine that admission of the November 27th statement violated Appellant's Fifth Amendment right to counsel, he nonetheless would not be entitled to relief. "The erroneous admission of statements obtained in violation of *Miranda* rights is subject to harmless error analysis. . . . Error is harmless if the reviewing court can say beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not affect the verdict." Mansfield v. State, 758 So.2d 636, 644 (Fla. 2000), cert. denied, 532 U.S. 998 (2001) (internal citation and quotation marks omitted).

Here, a wooden club that Appellant was videotaped purchasing was found near the victim's residence, the club tested positive for the presumptive presence of blood, and DNA and other physical evidence established that Appellant raped the victim. Accordingly, there is no reasonable possibility that admission of the statement affected the verdict. Almeida v. State, 748 So.2d 922, 932 (Fla. 1999) (citing State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129, 1139 (Fla. 1986)), cert. denied, 528 U.S. 1181 (2000).

For the foregoing reasons, Issue I should be denied.

being given up and the consequences thereof. The trial court did not err in admitting the statement.

39

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE THE STATE EXPERT'S DNA PROFILE POPULATION FREQUENCY TESTIMONY.

Everett contends that the trial court erred in permitting a State witness to testify regarding the population frequency for the resulting DNA profile obtained. Specifically, Appellant argues on appeal that "[t]he State never presented any evidence that she [the expert] was qualified in using the statistical analysis necessary to estimate the frequency of the profile in the population." I.B. at 24-25.

At trial, Jacqueline Benefield, a DNA analyst with FDLE testified that she had "approximately seven years of analytical chemistry experience" (R. VIII-179), had "attended short courses and conferences in the teaching of population genetics and statistics" (R. VIII-180), and had testified in four prior trials as an expert in the area of forensic serology and DNA analysis (R. VIII-179-180). Regarding Benefield's testimony on the frequency issue, the following colloquy occurred:

- Q (Mr. Meadows [prosecutor] continuing) Now, in determining the frequency of occurrence that you have a genetic profile found within the population, what methods do you use to do that?
- A [by Jacqueline Benefield] I use what is called the products rule. And that's how I calculated those numbers.
- Q Is there an established procedure that you go through in determining frequency of occurrence?

- A Yes.
- Q And is there a governing body here in the United States that determines what those standard procedures are?
 - A Yes.
 - Q What is that?
 - A NRC. National Research Council.
 - Q Who are they?
- A It's a governing body that's made up of people in academics as well as people in the private industry. It's a way for them to determine procedures and practices that should be used by the people performing DNA analysis.
 - Q Is the FBI involved in this?
 - A Yes, they are.
 - Q What is their -- FBI data base, is that what your --
- A The FBI data base is the data base that I use in order to calculate the frequencies. They follow the same rules that FDLE does in calculating these frequencies.
- Q And this is the method that's generally accepted throughout the world in determining the frequencies of the genetic profile?
 - A Yes.
- Q Now, what were your conclusions based upon the genetic profile that you found of Paul Glen Everett, of using the product rule and following the appropriate procedures, of the frequency of that occurrence?

MR. SMITH: Same objections, Judge.

THE COURT: And I'll overrule that objection. You may proceed.

A (By the witness) The frequency occurrence of this profile for unrelated individuals in the following population is one in 15.1 quadrillion of the Caucasian population.

Q (Mr. Meadows continuing) Let's go slow here. All right. In white, one in -- it would be how many zeros following this 15?

A There's going to be five sets of -- 15.

Q (Marking on large sheet of paper) Okay. What about in the black population?

A In the African-American population it would be one in 1.01 quintillion.

Q (Marking on large sheet) Okay. How many sets of zeros we going to have here?

A Six sets.

Q And Hispanic?

A One in 11.2 quadrillion of the Hispanic population.

Q Now, what is the protocol within the Florida Department of Law Enforcement Crime Laboratory regarding confirming your findings?

A Once a report is written a case file is put together, my entire case file is reviewed by a second analyst, this is called a technical review. They'll go through the entire case to determine whether they come up with the same conclusions and data that I have come up with. And then a third analyst will review the case file for administrative review.

O Has that been done in this case?

A Yes.

Q Is that done in every case for every analyst before those results are reported out by Florida Department of Law Enforcement?

A Yes.

Q Now, when you talked about those individuals whose genetic profile did not match, does that completely, when you said excludes, that says beyond any question in scientific analysis, they could not have left the DNA that you found on those items that you tested?

A Correct.

* * * * *

(R. VIII-188-191). The defense previously stipulated that Benefield was an expert "in the area of doing DNA analysis, but not in terms of giving a population profile." (R. VIII-180).

Thus contrary to Appellant's assertion that the State's expert had "only a pedestrian knowledge of how to use that knowledge to determine how rare or frequent it would likely show up in some population," I.B. at 26, Benefield did not lack the requisite knowledge to testify as to the meaning of the DNA results. Benefield testified that she used the product rule to calculate the resulting frequencies, that there was an established procedure governed by the National Research Council which is generally accepted, and that she used the FBI database, which follows the same rules that FDLE

does in calculating population frequencies. The expert need not be a statistician herself to testify as to the statistical results. Darling v. State, 808 So. 2d 145, 158 (Fla.) (citing Murray v. State, 692 So. 2d 157, 164 (Fla. 1997)), cert. denied, 537 U.S. 848 (2002). Rather, as this Court has previously recognized, "[s]everal Florida cases, as well as cases from other jurisdictions, have accepted use of the product rule." Butler v. State, 842 So. 2d 817, 829 (Fla. 2003). Accordingly, witness Benefield was qualified to testify as an expert on the frequency issue "because her testimony was based on proven scientific principles." Id.

Even if the trial court should not have admitted Benefield's testimony as to the frequency in which the DNA profile was found in the population, any such error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. While Appellant argues that the testimony was "a crucial part of the State's case," I.B. at 27, he ignores the overwhelming evidence of guilt -- including the existence of the properly admitted statement to law enforcement, see supra, at 35-37, wherein Everett specifically admitted to having sexual intercourse with the victim (R. VII-156-157), in addition to the wooden club found near the victim's house that was traced back to Appellant, which tested positive for the presumptive presence of blood. "Error is harmless if the reviewing court can say beyond a reasonable doubt that the error did not affect the verdict." Mansfield, 758 So. 2d at 644 (internal citation and quotation marks omitted). Thus in light of the

overwhelming evidence of Appellant's guilt, any error in the admission of the population frequency testimony was harmless. Nelson v. State, 748 So. 2d 237, 242 (Fla. 1999) (admission of DNA population frequency testimony, without establishing source for calculation was generally accepted, deemed harmless error), cert. denied, 528 U.S. 1123 (2000).

APPELLANT IS NOT ENTITLED TO RELIEF UNDER <u>RING v.</u> ARIZONA, 536 U.S. 584 (2002).

Appellant contends that "this Court wrongly rejected Linroy Bottoson's and Amos King's arguments when it concluded that the United States Supreme Court's decision in Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002), had no relevance to Florida's death penalty scheme." I.B. at 29. Specifically, Everett argues that Ring is "an 'intervening development in the law' that this Court can re-examine the constitutionality of this state's death penalty law in light of that in decision." I.B. at 31.

Before the trial court, Appellant argued that Florida's death penalty scheme was unconstitutional under Ring on the basis that it was "functionally identical to Arizona's"; that aggravating circumstances "must be plead and proven to the jury"; and that "each aggravating factor [is] to be proven separately." (R. I-54-55) (underlined emphasis in original). To the extent that Appellant invites this Court to consider additional bases not raised in the trial court to hold Florida's death penalty scheme unconstitutional under Ring -- e.g., the effect of the existence of a prior violent felony, the lack of unanimous jury recommendations, and the lack of specific verdicts -- such arguments are procedurally barred. Cf. Turner v. Crosby, 339 F.3d 1247, 1280 (11th Cir. 2003) (Ring claim must properly be raised in state court).

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